IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI うろうひ NO. 2007-KA-0220-COA FILED JUL 1 1 2008

CARL ELEY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Office of the Clerk Bupreme Court Court of Appeals

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

Appellant Will Seek Oral Argument

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI William R. LaBarre, MSB No. PUBLIC DEFENDER Frank L. McWilliams, MSB No. Virginia L. Watkins, MSB. No Virginia L. Watkins, MSB. No Sistant Public Defenders Post Office Box 23029 Jackson, Mississippi 39225 Telephone: 601-948-2683 Facsimile: 601-948-2687

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. The trial court erred when it denied the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, a New Trial due to the presence of a juror, Ronald Keith Cash, who not only knew one of the principal prosecution witnesses, but who also failed to disclose a prior cocaine possession charge during voir dire, and

II. The trial court erred when it denied the Motion in Limine by Mr. Eley to bar Mark Bannister, who did not witness the incident, from testifying.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Carl Eley was arrested and charged in Cause No. 06-1-174 with armed robbery, violating MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-79 (1972) in connection with the robbery of James Stone for \$42.00 on August 25, 2006. CP 3. Mr. Eley stood for trial on the indictment beginning June 12, 2007; on June 13, 2007, the jury returned a verdict of "Guilty." T. 232; CP 30-32; RE 9-10. The trial court found Mr. Eley, 22 at the time of trial, had a life expectancy of forty-six (46) years and so sentenced him to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. T. 190; 234; CP 31-32; RE 11.

The morning after trial, the prosecution disclosed that a member of the venire failed to disclose during *voir dire* that he knew Det. David Domino, the lead detective testifying in the case. Domino had also interviewed the juror, Ronald Keith Cash, when Cash was a victim of an armed robbery less than two years previously. T. 236-237; CP 33-35. After a hearing, the trial court denied Mr. Eley's *Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, a New Trial.* T. 260; RE 12. Following denial of his motion, Mr. Eley appealed his conviction and sentence, now before this honorable Court. CP 45.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

James Stone and Mark Bannister worked together installing vinyl siding on homes in the Jackson metropolitan area, work in which they were engaged at 1716 Cox Street in Jackson on August 25, 2006. T. 111; 158.

Stone testified a boy had cruised by throughout the morning on his bicycle and chatted with the pair. T. 158. At one point, Stone gave him a cigarette. T. 159. Later that afternoon, as Stone and Bannister were wrapping up for the day, the boy came by again, this time with a friend. T. 159. The visitors continued the earlier conversation; the boy followed Stone into the house as Stone carried lumber to store inside until the next day. T. 159; 171. Stone testified he heard the door shut behind him as he walked into the house with his armload of lumber; when he turned around the boy was standing there, holding a .25 caliber pistol, and asking for Stone's wallet. T. 159; 162; 172. Stone testified he had no cash in the wallet, so the robber told him to empty his pockets, netting the robber \$42.00 in cash -- two twenty-dollar bills and two one-dollar bills. T. 159. The robber then instructed Stone not to call the law or he would kill Stone. T. 172. While Stone testified at trial that the robber and his friend then ran off, he acknowledged the contradiction with Bannister's contemporaneous statement that the two walked away from the scene. T. 172.

After the robber left, Stone testified that he went to the bathroom in the house, then walked outside and told Bannister he had been robbed. T. 159; 170. Stone was nervous and wanted to leave the neighborhood before calling the police to report the incident, out of fear the boys lived in the neighborhood. T. 159;163;170. Stone testified he and Bannister drove to a nearby Chinese restaurant at the corner of Terry Road and U.S. Highway 80 with a parking lot large enough to accommodate their pick-up truck and sixteen-foot trailer and awaited police there. T. 163; 170; 172.

Officer Fredrick Reginald responded to the restaurant parking lot and took his report there from Stone. T. 111. Meanwhile, Bannister called the contractor for whom they worked and went with him through the neighborhood to see if they could find the two boys, which they did. T. 149. Bannister said his boss telephoned Stone to tell him the boys were still in the area at a convenience store. T. 149. Police found only one of the two at the convenience store, Eric Stringer, whom Bannister at trial identified as the second boy the robber brought with him in the afternoon. T. 112; 118; 123; Exhibit 1. Bannister assured authorities he could identify both men, including the one who allegedly robbed Stone. T.133.

3

Detective David Domino, the lead investigator on the case, testified he received an anonymous telephone call from someone who identified himself as a friend of Eric Stringer. The friendly, anonymous stranger told Domino that Carl Eley was the robber. T. 133. Domino also acknowledged that Stringer was not indicted in connection with the case, only Mr. Eley. T.133. CP 3. At trial, Mr. Eley unequivocally testified that his relations with Stringer, a cousin, were virtually non-existent. T. 197. Stringer would come to Mr. Eley's home in search of either the older or younger of Mr. Eley's siblings; that was the extent of his relationship with Stringer. T. 199.

At issue both before and at trial was the identification of Mr. Eley based on the physical descriptions Stone and Bannister gave at the time and at trial, specifically the presence of four gold teeth in the upper part of the robber's mouth and no mention by either Stone or Bannister of the robber's tattoos. Despite his earlier assurances to police, Bannister could only identify Stringer from a photo line-up presented to him a month after the incident. T. 128; 132; Exhibit 4. Furthermore, although Stone gave a detailed physical description, including four gold teeth and the sleeveless tank top the robber wore, he makes no mention whatsoever of the very visible tattoos present on both of Mr. Eley's arms. T. 191.

Mr. Eley was arrested on October 24, 2006 and incarcerated until trial. Mr. Eley demonstrated to the jury he had no gold teeth and obvious tattoos, although booking records from a prior arrest in 2005 showed he had four gold teeth in the upper part of his month. T. 193. Mr. Eley denied ever having gold teeth, permanent or removable, and insisted the booking records were a mistake. T. 191; 192. Deputy Rhonda Daniels, booking clerk, testified over objection from defense counsel that she entered the condition of his teeth from Mr. Eley's 2005 arrest based on paperwork and physical observation during booking. T. 177. The 2005 records,

4

however, failed to show whether the gold teeth were "grills," detachable gold teeth, or permanent gold teeth presumably requiring removal by a dentist. T. 179.

Deputy Jerri Harris testified that deputies make inmates show whether gold teeth are "grills" or permanent. T. 209. If the gold teeth are grills, the item is considered jewelry, and is removed, sealed into an evidence bag and placed with the remainder of the inmate's personal effects. T. 208; 209. While booking records show Mr. Eley had four gold teeth, Harris testified that Mr. Eley's personal property, taken at his arrest October 24, 2006, list a belt, shoe laces and one dollar bill. There is no sealed evidence bag containing a removable gold grill among Mr. Eley's personal effects held by the Hinds County Sheriff's Office. T. 210. Harris also testified that Mr. Eley has been continuously incarcerated since October 24, 2006. T. 211.

W w a w have

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Eley would respectfully argue that the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to follow the objective test of *Odum v. State*, 355 So.2d 1381, 1383 (Miss. 1978), which infers prejudice to a party when a potential juror fails to respond truthfully to a relevant, direct and unambiguous question during *voir dire*. In this case, Juror Ronald Cash failed to disclose a 2005 ω_{ao} , ω_{ao} ,

In addition, Mr. Eley alleges it was fatal error under MISS.R. EVID. 602, 402 and 403 to deny the *Motion in Limine* to bar testimony by Mark Bannister. Bannister did not witness the alleged robbery and could not identify Mr. Eley as one who came to the jobsite where the incident occurred. Without personal knowledge of the incident, the testimony of Mr. Bannister was irrelevant and thus only served to confuse and mislead the jury.

In accord to this stern view by our nation's highest court, the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Odom v. State*, 355 So.2d 1381, (Miss. 1978) reversed the burglary conviction of Odom due to the failure of a prospective juror to disclose his brother was a policeman and an investigating officer of the crime being tried. The venireman, Freshour, was seated as a juror, heard testimony from his brother and was among those who rendered a unanimous verdict of guilty. Had defense counsel known of the relationship, the Mississippi Supreme Court reasoned, most assuredly counsel would have exercised a peremptory challenge or used a challenge for cause to remove Freshour from the panel. The question our Court considered was whether it was necessary for Odum to demonstrate prejudice in order to win a new trial. The Court held prejudice "reasonably could be inferred" and new trial ordered upon a finding that a prospective juror "fails to respond to a relevant, direct and unambiguous question" during *voir dire. Id.*, at 1382-1383.

In the later case of *Myers v. State*, 565 So.2d 554 at 558 (Miss. 1990), the Mississippi Supreme Court declared, "[f]ollowing a jury's verdict, where a party shows that a juror withheld substantial information or misrepresented material facts, and where a full and complete response would have provided a valid basis for challenge for cause, the trial court *must* grant a new trial, and, failing that, we must reverse on appeal. *We presume prejudice*." [emphasis added] In *Myers*, the trial court discovered just prior to deliberation on an illegal liquor sale charge that one of the jurors had relatives, including her spouse, with illegal liquor convictions and replaced her with an alternate. The Court affirmed Myers' conviction on appeal, in which he alleged error in replacing the non-disclosing juror.

In the case at bar, Juror Ronald Keith Cash withheld information that he had been arrested for possession of cocaine in 2005 after the prosecutor asked of the venire in *voir dire* the following:

Q. But have – and I'm going to ask you panel by panel, again just like I just did. In the first panel in the jury box, has anybody in the jury box ever been booked into a jail of any kind?

T. 70.

While Juror Ronald Keith Cash responded that he had received a DUI some ten years previously, he failed to inform either the prosecutor, defense counsel or the trial court of a much more recent arrest for cocaine possession in 2005.

Q. Mr. Cash, you are Ronald Keith Cash?

North and a start А.

. Yes, sir

Q. _And you answered the question about being arrested as saying that you had a DUI about 10 years ago. Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir. It may be '95 or '96.

Q. Okay. Was there any other thing?

A. Sir?

Q. Was there any other occasion that you were arrested?

A. I have been before, sir, on something else but I was told since it was adjudicated

that, you know, I did not have to – you know, it was not on my record and I did not have to disclose it.

Q. You were indicted in '05 for possession of cocaine?

A. Yes, sir.

BY MR. MILES: Nothing further.

A. That's why I didn't bring it up.

BY MR. MILES: Nothing further. T. 85

Upon challenge for cause due to Cash's dishonesty, Mr. Eley argued forcefully to keep Cash on the jury, upon which he was ultimately empanelled. T. 87; 94.

This omission was the not the full extent of Mr. Cash's dishonesty, however. On the morning after Mr. Eley was convicted, the prosecutor informed the trial court that the investigating detective, David Domino, had notified him of an investigation into an armed robbery less than two years before in which the victim was Ronald Keith Cash. Det. Domino recognized Cash when Domino testified at trial. T. 236-237.

Upon a hearing on the *Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, A New Trial*, the trial court went through the three *Odom* factors. The trial court agreed that the question was relevant to the *voir dire* examination and that the question was unambiguous, but found that Cash lacked "substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited." *Odom*, at 1383; T. 260; RE 12. Therefore, the trial court refused to make any further any inquiry as to whether prejudice to Mr. Eley could be inferred and denied the new trial motion. T. 260; RE 12.

Pursuant to *Odom*, Mr. Eley respectfully asserts the trial court abused his discretion in finding Juror Cash lacked knowledge of the information sought. "The failure of a juror to respond to a relevant, direct, and unambiguous question leaves the examining attorney uninformed and unable to ask any follow-up questions to elicit the necessary facts to intelligently reach a decision to exercise a peremptory challenge or to challenge a juror for cause," the Court wrote in *Odom. Id.*, at 1383. Just so was the case here. On at least three occasions, the trial court, the prosecutor and defense counsel in *voir dire* asked jurors whether they could be fair and impartial or whether anything would hamper them from rendering a fair and impartial verdict. T. 41 (trial court); T. 59 (prosecutor); T. 79 (defense counsel). As noted in *Odom*, Freshour – as did Juror Cash in the case at bar – failed to respond to that query, as well. *Id.*, at 1381. Common

had been had

10

sense tells anyone that had the defense been aware that Juror Cash knew Domino or had been the victim of an armed robbery less than two years before, he most assuredly would have been excused for cause or peremptorily. Cash also knew other members of the venire declared their inability to be impartial due to knowledge of or kinship with victims of violent crime. Yet, he kept silent about the experience throughout trial. This is not unlike the facts of *Burroughs v*. *State*, 767 So.2d 246 (Miss.App., 2000), in which this Court reversed for failure to grant a new trial when it was discovered one of the jurors employed two of the assault victims. At the new trial motion hearing, the juror testified he did not recognize the names of the victims when they were called out during *voir dire* and only recognized one youth when the boy appeared to testify. Yet, the juror never informed a baliff, the trial court or the prosecutor. *Id.* 251-252.

Under Mississippi law, a juror is deemed "disqualified" when she or he has withheld information or misrepresented material facts." MISS. CODE ANN. § 13-5-67 (1972). Clearly, Juror when the same misrepresented his felony background, his knowledge of Det. Domino and the fact that he, too, had been a victim of a violent crime, the same crime for which he sat as a juror, all factors that just as "clearly had an adverse effect on appellant's right to challenge [Cash] peremptorily." *Odom*, at 1381. Just as obviously, the trial court abused its inherent discretion in failing to find that Mr. Eley's motion met all three prongs of the *Odom* test. Surely at some point in the *voir dire*, Juror Cash had the "substantial knowledge" of the information to be elicited. Counsel for Mr. Moore submits that even if Juror Cash were confused as to whether his cocaine possession arrest had been expunged, even if he did not recognize the name of Det. Domino or failed to recognize Domino, there is still the matter that he failed to disclose he had been a victim of the same crime, armed robbery, sufficient for the Supreme Court in *Atkinson v. State*, 371 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1979) to reverse for a new trial. Counsel for Mr. Eley submits it is disingenuous in the extreme to claim otherwise. Therefore, based on the state and federal authorities cited above, Mr. Eley respectfully requests this honorable Court reverse and remand his cause for a new trial.

II. The trial court erred when it denied the *Motion in Limine* by Mr. Eley to bar Mark Bannister, who did not witness the incident, from testifying.

Under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, personal knowledge is required for one not testifying as an expert. MISS.R. EVID. 602. Otherwise, the witness's testimony is irrelevant and subject to the restrictions of MISS.R.EVID. 402 and 403, which bar the use of irrelevant evidence and prevent admission of evidence that may be relevant but confusing or misleading to the jury.

Mr. Eley contends it was error for the trial court to deny his *Motion in Limine* to prohibit Mark Bannister from testifying at trial. T. 23; RE 13. Bannister was working outside, loading items on the pick-up truck as he and Stone finished for the day. T. 150. Bannister acknowledged that the alleged robber had been by three or four times that day but despite that fact, Bannister could not identify Mr. Eley as the youth who had been by the Cox Street house earlier that day conversing over work to the home. T. 151-152. Furthermore, Bannister was unsure at trial of his description of clothing the alleged robber wore and said absolutely nothing about the very visible tattoos that covered the arms of Mr. Eley. T. 191.

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Estate of Carter v. Phillips and Phillips Constr. Co.*, 860 So.2d 332 (Miss.App.Ct., 2003) reversed the result in that case due to testimony by a police officer of the accident scene at the time of the accident when in fact, the officer was *not present* the night of the accident. And, in *Jones v. State*, 678 So.2d 707 (Miss., 1996), it was reversible error to permit a state Department of Human Services worker to opine that ingestion of cocaine by vapor was a child's cause of death.

The testimony of Mr. Bannister was made without knowledge of the critical event, i.e., the alleged armed robbery of James Stone and with a complete inability to identify the individual

CONCLUSION

Mr. Eley respectfully contends that under *Odum v. State*, 355 So.2d 1381, the trial court abused its discretion in failing to find the dishonesty by Juror Ronald Keith Cash regarding his past criminal background, his relation with investigating Det. David Domino and that Cash himself had, less than two years before, been a victim of an armed robbery denied to him the impartial jury promised by the U.S. Constitution, the Mississippi Constitution and a long line of federal and state case law interpreting these fundamental guarantees. Furthermore, Mr. Eley submits that the trial court erred in permitting Mark Bannister to testify, as Bannister lacked the requisite personal knowledge of the incident. Thus his testimony was irrelevant and could only serve to confuse and mislead the jury as the events of that day in August, 2006.

On the basis of these demonstrated errors, Mr. Eley requests this honorable Court vacate his conviction and remand this matter for a new trial to the Circuit Court of Hinds County.