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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that the trial court did not err in denying a motion for a JNOV or a New Trial. R. 260-261. There was a lack of evidence for holding that juror Cash met the third criteria for alleged failure to answer truthfully a relevant and unambiguous question. **Odom, infra.**, **Herrington v. State** 690 So.2d 1132, 1139 (Miss. 1997), and **Salter v. Watkins** 513 So.2d 569, 573 (Miss. 1987). There was no affidavit filed from Mr. Cash with their motion or at the hearing on their motion for a JNOV or New Trial. R. 246 ; C.P. 11-12.

The record reflects that Eley did not meet its burden of proof for showing, as stated in his motion, that Cash “lied” during voir dire. This would be lying about his not recognizing Detective Domino. Nor did Eley meet his burden for showing that not only did Cash have “knowledge” of recognition but that this knowledge in any way adversely effected the outcome of Eley’s trial. **Moore v. State** 909 So.2d 77, 83 (§19-¶20) (Miss. App. 2005).

The record reflects that while juror Cash had been previously interviewed as a victim of a crime, he had also at one time been investigated as a suspect in another crime which was non-adjudicated. R.86-89; 254-255. The defense opposed the prosecution’s strike for cause on Cash. It did so because they believed when a charge is non-adjudicated, a suspect does not have to reveal it to others. R. 88-89. The trial court accepted the defense position, and Cash was not struck for cause. R. 89.

2. The record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony from Mr. Bannister. R. 23. **Parker v. State**, 606 So. 2d 1132, 1136 (Miss. 1992). While Bannister did not identify Eley’s photograph, he provided an accurate description of the clothing worn by Eley’s companion. The record reflects that this person, Mr. Stringer, was Eley’s cousin. R.144-145. Stringer was still wearing these same clothes shortly after the robbery. R. 121-122. This was blue

pants and a red shirt. R. 144.

In addition, Bannister provided a general description of the other suspect which was corroborated by the robbery victim, Mr. Stone. R. 145. Bannister also testified to locating the “two suspects together” shortly after the robbery. R. 149-150. He notified law enforcement.

The suspects were located at a convenience store in the neighborhood of the robbery. The taller suspect, who stayed outside with Bannister during the robbery, still had on his blue pants and red shirt when he was detained by police. His companion fled and was not captured until a later date.

Under the facts of this case, the fact that Bannister did not witness the armed robbery itself did not in any way make his testimony any less relevant. The record reflects that he testified about relevant and material issues based upon his personal experience and knowledge. His testimony was needed to provide the jury with “a coherent story” of what occurred. **Ballenger v. State**, 667 So. 2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995).

Therefore, the Appellee would submit that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Bannister’s testimony in the instant cause. M. R. E. 403, and 609.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD REFLECTS THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED A MOTION FOR A JNOV OR A NEW TRIAL.

Eley believes that the trial court erred in denying him a JNOV or a New Trial. He erred in not finding that juror Cash interfered with his ability to receive a fair trial. Eley believes that Cash violated the **Odom v. State**, 355 So 2d 1381 (Miss 1978) , requirements for voir dire of jurors. He violated them when he did not state during voir dire that he knew Detective Domino who would be testifying in this case. After the trial, it was revealed that Detective Domino had interviewed him when he himself was a victim of a crime over a year prior to trial. Appellant's brief page 7-12.

To the contrary, the Appellee would submit that the record indicates that while Cash had been interviewed by Detective Domino, there is a lack of evidence that he either remembered his name or recognized him when he testified. The record reflects that Detective Domino's interview was conducted some "twenty months" prior to the trial. R. 255.

After hearing testimony at a hearing on Eley's motion for a JNOV or a New Trial based upon alleged **Odom, supra** violation, the trial court denied the motion. R.260. The trial court found that there was a lack of evidence that Cash had "substantial knowledge" of the information requested during voir dire. In other words, under the third prong **Odom** test, that Eley did not sufficient evidence for inferring that juror Cash at the time of voir dire "had substantial knowledge about the information requested at that time."

Mr. Miles:

Obviously I didn't—you know, as Ms. Gibson stated, I prosecuted the case in which Mr. Cash was a victim, and I didn't remember that. I didn't remember that—and as she said, we prosecute hundreds of cases. So does Detective Domino. And I can state as-I will promise you if I had remembered Cash as being a victim at that time I would have brought it to the Court's attention and to the defense's

attention.

The trial court denied the motion for a new trial. The Court found a lack of evidence that juror Cash had recognized Detective Domino's name during voir dire.

If the Court rules today that he is being dishonest, it's based on speculation because no affidavit has been offered before the court, and it's their burden, it's their motion to show that he had knowledge of who this obscure name, Detective Domino, who that might have been, if that's the same guy that interviewed him 20 months ago, or that he able to recognize him, and then going beyond that, if that even effected his determination of Mr Eley's guilt. R. 255.

So there all types of situations where people's memories are such that the particular person does not remember someone's name or even what he looked like. On the other hand, Detective Domino by nature of his training and experience was trained to remember people, people's names, people's faces as part of his work. It's a different situation for someone like Mr Cash. But in any event, basically what the defense is asking this court to do is engage in guesswork, speculation or conjecture or surmise that Cash did, in fact, remember Sergeant Domino, what his name was and/or what he looked like. And this Court is not permitted to do that.

The third prong as mentioned in the **Odom** case was whether the juror had substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited. **And the judge nor any other trial judge is not in a position to find affirmatively that a juror such as the juror in this case, Mr. Cash, had substantial knowledge of the information of who Sergeant-Detective Domino was, his name and his face. And, of course, this is one of the essential prerequisites before the court can find that there was some error involved in the jury trial.**

In any event, the Court finds that in the opinion of this trial judge that the defendant did, in fact, have a fair and impartial jury, and a fair and impartial jury trial, which is what he was entitled to. R. 260.

In **Odom v. State** 355 So.2d 1381, 1383 (Miss. 1978), the Supreme Court stated the three prong test for dealing with alleged failure of a juror to answer relevant and unambiguous questions in a truthful manner.

Therefore, we hold that where, as here, a prospective juror in a criminal case fails to respond to a relevant, direct, and unambiguous question presented by defense counsel on voir dire, although having knowledge of the information sought to be elicited, the trial court should, upon motion for a new trial, determine whether the question propounded to the juror was (1) **relevant to the voir dire examination;** (2) **whether it was unambiguous;** and (3) **whether the juror had substantial knowledge of the**

information sought to be elicited.[FN1] If the trial court's determination of these inquiries is in the affirmative, the court should then determine if prejudice to the defendant in selecting the jury reasonably could be inferred from the juror's failure to respond. If prejudice reasonably could be inferred, then a new trial should be ordered. It is, of course, a judicial question as to whether a jury is fair and impartial and the court's judgment will not be disturbed unless it appears clearly that it is wrong. (*Jones v. State*, 133 Miss. at 711-13, 98 So. 150). (Emphasis by Appellee).

As to the other claim against juror Cash for lying during voir dire, the record reflects that Cash did indicate candidly and truthfully during voir dire to having been arrested for a DUI ten years ago. R. 85. However, he did not respond as to his having been arrested for possession of cocaine. R. 86. When the prosecution attempted to strike him for cause for not responding candidly about the cocaine charge, the defense objected. R. 88. Mr. McWilliams for the defense explained that he counseled his clients that having a charge non-adjudicated meant that you did not have to reveal it. R. 88.

The trial court decided because of possible confusion over what non-adjudication meant, he would reject the prosecution's strike on Cash for cause. R. 89.

Court: Well, it could have been some confusion in view of the non adjudication. I believe this is the first time the court had that identical situation come up. So he did volunteer to DUI. So under the circumstances the Court believes that there's not cause for a challenge—challenging for cause. But obviously the state may use an excuse.

In addition, the record reflects that while the defense argued this issue during the hearing on the motion for a new trial, the “not responding because of non-adjudication issue” was not raised in its Motion for a New Trial. C.P. 33. Therefore, the prosecution did not have time to prepare to answer this allegation. Mr. Miles pointed out that this allegation was based upon a reversal of the defense position taken during voir dire on strikes for cause. R. 88-89. There they argued, as reflected by the record, that a juror should not be expected to reveal an arrest or charge when it was eventually

non-adjudicated.

In **Herrington v. State** 690 So.2d 1132, 1139 (Miss. 1997), the Supreme Court found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not dismissing a juror. During voir dire, the juror did not respond when asked if she knew M.S. , the juvenile female victim, in a rape case. A juror discovered later by accident that the victim went to school with her children, which she then related to the judge.

Both parties agree that the ability to dismiss a juror is within the discretion of the trial judge. **Scott v. Ball**, 595 So.2d 848, 849 (Miss.1992); **Myers v. State**, 565 So.2d 554, 558 (Miss.1990). Here it would appear that this discretion was not abused. It was entirely consistent for Ms. Griffin to answer that she did not know M.S. She stated that she was unaware that her children went to school with M.S. until her children brought that to her attention. Trial counsel never asked the venire if anyone had children who attended a particular school. Thus, there is no material misrepresentation. **Myers**, 565 So.2d at 558. This issue is without merit.

In **Salter v. Watkins** 513 So.2d 569, 573 (Miss. 1987), the Supreme Court found that juror Deweese's response during voir dire that he did not know the defendant Watkins was an honest answer. He discovered that he knew her indirectly. He discovered that he knew members of her family from another juror during the trial. He stated he could be fair and impartial along with the other jurors. The Court found that he did not have "substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited. "

In fact, Deweese had never laid eyes upon Defendant Watkins prior to the trial and had to be told who she was by Mr. Bobo, another juror. There was no evidence that Deweese was even aware of the existence of Watkins before the trial.

When asked on voir dire, Deweese answered that he did not know Watkins and that was an honest answer; therefore, he did not have "substantial knowledge of the information sought to be elicited" as required in **Dorrough v. State**, 437 So.2d 35, 36 (Miss.1983).

In **Moore v. State** 909 So.2d 77, 83 (¶19-¶20) (Miss. App. 2005), the Court found that Moore failed to show that he "suffered any prejudice" from a juror's lack of response to relevant

questions. The juror did not respond to questions about being involved with drug related crimes as well as to questions about having any condition that would prevent them from paying attention. It was discovered that Juror Lindsay had a hearing loss in one ear and had been involved with drug related crimes.

Furthermore, assuming arguendo that the question was not ambiguous, we fail to see that Moore has shown that he suffered any prejudice from Lindsay's presence. At the hearing on the motion for a new trial, Lindsay testified that she heard and understood everything that occurred during the trial, testifying "I understand everything that is going on. I made sure that I sit there, I made sure that I listen real good loud and clear. Because the microphone was real loud, I could hear real good."

In **Lindsey v. State** 965 So.2d 712, 718 (¶17) (Miss. App. 2007), the Appeal Court stated that it would not substitute its judgement for that of the trial court on a **Odom** issue about a juror who did not respond or answer an alleged relevant and unambiguous question during voir dire.

¶ 17. We are of the opinion that the resolution of this matter is based on the trial court's consideration of the evidence submitted to support the motion for a new trial. The trial court clearly found Ms. Richardson's affidavit to lack credibility and there were not sufficient grounds to grant the motion. We will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial court. Indeed, we hold that the trial judge's ruling was within his discretion. We find no merit to this issue.

The record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Eley's motion for a new trial. There was a lack of evidence for finding that Eley met his burden of proof for showing either that juror Cash lied or misrepresented the truth about his recognition of Detective Domino. He did not recognize his name as being someone who interviewed him some twenty months prior to trial. There were no affidavits or any other evidence in support of Eley's claim that juror Cash lied. The Appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

MR. BANNISTER'S TESTIMONY WAS PROPERLY RECEIVED.

Eley believes that the trial court erred in denying his motion in limine. This motion was to prohibit Mr. Mark Bannister from testifying. Eley believes that since Bannister was unable to identify him, he should not have been permitted to testify in the case against him. Eley believes that the fact that Bannister claimed he was present at his work site before the robbery and yet could not identify him makes his testimony suspect. He thinks the trial court should have affirmed his motion to prohibit his testimony. Appellant's brief page 12-14.

To the contrary, the record reflects that Mr. Bannister testified to being present with Stone, the armed robbery victim, before and after the robbery. R. 143-174. While Bannister did not witness the actual robbery, he did have relevant experiences, knowledge and memory about the circumstances surrounding the armed robbery. The record reflects that the robbery occurred inside a house with Bannister outside. Bannister was with the companion of the actual robber when he was robbing Stone inside the house. Bannister was assisting Mr. Stone, the victim, put up siding at this work site at the time. R. 143-144. The robbery occurred around 2:30 in the afternoon. R. 115.

The record reflects that Bannister provided an accurate description of what the companion with the gun man was wearing. He was wearing "blue pants and a red shirt." R. 111; 144. The record also reflects that Bannister identified the photograph of Mr. Stringer as being the "look out" companion with whom he was speaking when the robbery occurred. R. 146.

Q. The man on the porch?

A. The man on the porch, oh, probably five ten , six foot, clean cut, maybe a red shirt, blue shorts.

Q. Now, when the police—did the police give you an opportunity to pick out the man—was the man on the porch put in a photo line up later on?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did you have an opportunity—did you have any difficulty picking that man out?

A. No, sir. R. 146. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Detective Domino corroborated Bannister in testifying that he provided an accurate description of Stringer, the companion with the gunman at the crime scene. He also corroborated the fact that Bannister identified Stringer's photograph out of a photo spread shown to him.

Q. And what was the —what was the physical description of Eric Stringer?

A. Approximately six feet, six one, kind of thin built, dark skinned male.

Q. Did the description you just gave of Eric Stringer, did that match the general description of the man with the robber that the victim and the witness gave you?

A. Yes.

...
Q. And was Mark Bannister able to pick out Eric Stringer's photograph out of that photographic lineup?

A. Yes, sir. R. 122. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Detective Domino also testified that Mr. Stringer, the suspected companion of the gunman, was located in the same neighborhood within thirty minutes of the actual robbery. He was located by Mr Bannister and his work site supervisor based on Bannister's description. R. 115. Once arrested, Mr. Stringer, the alleged "look out" suspect, never made any statement to law enforcement.

Mr. Bannister also provided a general description of the man who robbed co-worker Stone. R. 145. He described him as wearing "a wave cap," and being about five five, and about 20 years old. He explained that a wave cap was the same as a dew rag. R. 145. Bannister also remembered that the suspect had "braided" hair under his dew rag. R. 135.

Q. And by wave cap you're talking about a dew rag?

A. **Yes, sir.** (Emphasis by Appellee).

In his testimony, Mr. Eley admitted that his hair was plaited which he claimed was different from being braided. However, he admitted that in his statement to law enforcement he stated that on the day of the robbery he was getting his hair “braided.” R. 200.

Mr. Stone described the man who robbed him as being five four weighing about 140-150 pounds, and wearing “a dew rag.” R. 164.

Therefore, Bannister’s description of the gun man corroborated that of Stone who was the person actually robbed inside the house.

Mr. Bannister also testified to locating “the two suspects” present when Stone was robbed shortly after the robbery. R. 149-150. He and the contractor for the siding job drove around looking for the suspects in their neighborhood. This was in part due to the fact that the suspects had been seen together in the neighborhood and around the house walking or riding a bike earlier in the day.

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